# FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/15/2018 1:14 PM No. 96528-5

(Washington Court of Appeals No. 76009-2-I)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer doing business in Washington State,

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN SYKES, ET AL.,

Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jaquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA #17567 Karr Tuttle Campbell 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313 Attorneys for Respondent Zurich American Insurance Company

####

### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Zurich American Insurance Company ("ZAIC") seeks review of the decision terminating review in *Sykes v. Singh*, issued first as an unpublished decision by Division I of the Court of Appeals on August 13, 2018 (the "Opinion"). On October 16, 2018, Division I filed its Order Granting Motion to Publish the Opinion. (A copy of the Opinion and the Order Granting Motion to Publish are attached as Appendix A.)

This case is linked and this petition is related to *Zurich Am. Ins. Co. v. Singh*, No. 76479-9-I.

#### II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petitioner asks this Court to review the procedures for conducting reasonableness hearings and require that they comport with the ordinary rules and expectations for judicial proceedings and the fundamental requirement of due process of law.

Reasonableness determinations under RCW 4.22.060 are conducted without a jury. They set the measure of presumed damages that are awarded against insurers in related bad faith failure-to-defend cases. This Court has acknowledged that insurers' interests should be protected in reasonableness hearings because, like this case, an insured may have no incentive to minimize the amount of a settlement. The reasonableness hearing process tends to be perfunctory and varies widely, leaving insurers without basic due process protection. This petition presents the issue of whether this Court should establish fundamental standards for

reasonableness hearings when they are used to set the presumed measure of damages for insurer bad faith. ZAIC urges adoption of the standards set forth in section IV. C. Petitioner seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and 13.4(b)(4).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 2011, two commercial trucks collided. The ensuing chain collision affected many vehicles and resulted in the death of Rachel Beckwith. ZAIC's insured, Joginder Singh d/b/a AP Transport ("Singh"), owned one truck, driven by employee Richard Noble. The limit of Singh's policy with ZAIC was \$1 million. Gilliardi Logging & Construction owned the other truck, driven by employee Mullins.

Three months after the accident, The Estate of Rachel Beckwith and Rachel's parents sued suit Singh, Noble, Gilliardi, and Mullins. ("Beckwith"). ZAIC defended Singh and Noble. One year after the accident, the Washington State Patrol concluded the collision was caused by Singh's driver Noble. Two months before trial, ZAIC paid Singh's policy limits to settle Beckwith. Had Beckwith not settled and gone to trial, Singh faced a multi-million-dollar judgment and bankruptcy. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 222-23. "CP" references pertain to the record in this action, Court of Appeals No. 76009-2-I, unless designated as "CP \_\_\_\_ (No. 76479-9-I)."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defense counsel determined the wrongful death claim had a value that "significantly exceeds the combined value of all other personal injury claims," and that the \$3 million insurance available (\$1 million for Singh and \$2 million for Gilliardi) was "arguably not enough insurance to fully compensate the Beckwith Estate and Rachel's parents for the death and

When the *Beckwith* suit settled, only Farmers Insurance Company had sued—for \$25,150.32.<sup>3</sup> Other claimants had submitted documentation of damages totaling \$76,510.89.<sup>4</sup> Brian Sykes was not among them.

Sixteen months later, Brian Sykes sued Singh and Noble. Up to this point, the only information ZAIC ever had about Sykes' injuries, until one day before the reasonableness hearing, was that he: "Had a bloody hand. Relatively minor injuries."

ZAIC did not defend Singh against Sykes' suit because Singh's policy was exhausted. "Our duty to defend or settle ends when the Liability Coverage Limit of Insurance has been exhausted by payment of judgments or settlements." As to that suit, Sykes proposed a \$250,000 settlement. Singh accepted. Under their agreement, Singh was to

consortium claims in that lawsuit by itself." CP 195. One of the Beckwith lawyers, Max Meyers, testified in *Singh v. ZAIC* that the case was worth \$15 million. RP 383-386 (No. 76479-9-I).

As early as March 2012, ZAIC and defense counsel determined the greatest exposure facing Singh and Noble was the *Beckwith* suit. Defense counsel recommended that Singh's limits be reserved for that purpose. Singh agreed. CP 187-188 (No. 76479-9-I).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ex. 243, p. 6 (No. 76479-9-I).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ex. 215, p. 3-12; Ex. 217; Ex. 219; Ex. 220; Ex. 221, p. 1-3, 6-8; Ex. 222, p. 2; Ex. 223, p. 5; Ex. 225; Ex. 228; Ex. 233, p. 4; CP 183-185; CP 233, p. 5; CP 479-527; (No. 76479-9-I).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Reported by defense counsel in CP 399 (No. 76479-9-I). *See also* CP 99 "Sykes sustained an injury to his finger and his shoulders and back were sore."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 125-126; 271; 268-269.

continue his case against ZAIC. Sykes agreed to limit his collection to the first \$240,000 of any judgment against ZAIC. Singh's own obligation was to pay Sykes \$10,000 over five years, and Singh would keep any recovery above \$240,000.8 Meanwhile, Singh had sued ZAIC alleging breach of contract, bad faith, negligence, and CPA and IFCA violations that allow treble damages. *See* No. 76479-9-I.

Sykes filed a "Joint Motion for Determination of Reasonableness," signed only by Singh. ZAIC intervened. The moving papers demonstrated no adversity between the parties. Their submission included no documentation of any wage loss, no medical testimony linking an attorney's list of Sykes' injuries to the accident, no information the defense had a favorable IME, and no information allocating fault to Gilliardi.

ZAIC filed a written opposition. One day before the scheduled reasonableness hearing, Singh filed his reply, and for the first time submitted nine declarations and heavily redacted medical bills as the movants' only documentation of damages. The trial court did not hold the movants to their burden of proof, it did not consider that Singh had minimal stake in the outcome, and declared the entire \$250,000 settlement reasonable. In Singh's separate action against ZAIC, the jury was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 319-322; 324-410.

instructed that if it found ZAIC breached the "implied duty of good faith," it must award the \$250,000 as damages.<sup>10</sup>

On appeal ZAIC urged Division I to scrutinize the trial court's proceedings and set minimum standards to ensure basic due process for insurers. Division I declined, but noted in its Opinion at 15-16:

At oral argument before this court, we asked counsel for Zurich if she saw this case as a vehicle to take to the Supreme Court, so that the court could be asked to tighten up the standards for reasonableness hearings and take another look at cases like *Butler* and *Besel*. Counsel responded: "Yes I am. I'll be frank about it."

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Petition implicates article 1, section 21 of the Constitution of the State of Washington.

As it did in this case, the outcome of a reasonableness hearing conducted under RCW 4.22.060 becomes the presumptive measure of damages to be awarded against an insurer in a bad faith failure to defend case. And, as it did in this case, that hearing devolved into one that failed to comport with basic notions of due process and fairness, or assure the integrity of the result. These results occur despite the oft-stated intention of this Court and of the Courts of Appeal that an insurer's interests must be protected in these proceedings.

In Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992), this Court adopted a special rule for insurance bad faith cases even

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 2512, 2513 (No. 76479-9-I).

though bad faith is a tort that does not require intentional misconduct or fraud. *Indus. Indem. Co. v. Kallevig*, 14 Wn.2d 907, 916-17, 792 P.2d 520 (1990). A majority of this Court held "that if harm is an element of the cause of action, the court should impose a rebuttable presumption of harm once the insured meets the burden of establishing bad faith," *Safeco*, 118 Wn.2d at 390. Previously this Court limited presumed damages to first amendment cases, in accord with holdings of the United States Supreme Court. Safeco did not answer the question of what harm should be presumed. Was it attorney's fees incurred by the insured? Was it an insured's emotional distress? But these harms, if otherwise recoverable for the tort of insurance bad faith, are amenable to proof.

<sup>11 &</sup>quot;The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate, but the legislature may provide ... for waiving of the jury in civil cases where the consent of the parties interested is given thereto." Wash. Const. art. I, Sec. 21. In *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp. LLC*, 175 Wn. 2d 756, 787, 287 P.3d 551 (2012), Justice Wiggins wrote: "I would hold that the judicially created application of the reasonableness hearing to decide the reasonableness of a covenant judgment violates the right to jury determination of damages, a right that article 1, section 21 dictates "shall remain inviolate." He was joined by justices Madsen, and J.M. Johnson.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized, in cases involving important personal rights (free speech and due process), that there are limited instances when it may be appropriate to presume harm and award presumed damages. *See Carey v. Piphus* 435 U.S. 247, 255-56 (1978) (due process) and *Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 349-350 (1974) (defamation). However, even in these types of cases the Supreme Court has rejected presuming harm and damages in all instances, reserving presumptions for extreme circumstances. At present, Washington insureds seek presumed damages in nearly all cases alleging bad faith.

Next, in *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn. 2d 730, 738-39, 49 P.3d 887 (2002), this Court decided the amount of the stipulated—or confessed—judgment between the insured and a third party claimant was the "proper measure of damages" for an insurer's bad faith failure to defend if deemed reasonable in a separate proceeding.

This Court has held that "reasonableness determinations" are non-jury proceedings. *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp. LLC*, 175 Wn. 2d 756, 773, 287 P.3d 551 (2012). The only forum insurers have in which to contest what will become the presumed measure of damages, subject to trebling in the separate bad faith case, is the reasonableness hearing. *Red Oaks Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Sundquist Holdings, Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. 317, 116 P.3d 404 (2005). Because juries are not involved, due process considerations are critically important to insurers whose interests are directly at stake.

B. This Court should grant review to set procedural and evidentiary standards for reasonableness hearings when used to set the measure of presumed damages for insurer bad faith.

As the record here demonstrates, in practice the process fails to comport with even the minimal requirements of due process or those of the RCW 4.22.060. The trial court and the Court of Appeals shifted the burden of proof from the proponent of the settlement to the insurer. Both courts failed to appreciate that as a judicial proceeding, the Rules of Evidence still apply. ER 1101.

Reasonableness hearings conducted to establish the measure of presumed damages for insurer bad faith currently take many forms. The number of appeals from reasonableness determinations in bad faith cases shows the process has problems.<sup>13</sup> Trial courts have not been instructed on what the procedure should be.

In this case, the trial court did not conduct an adversarial hearing and did not apply the Rules of Evidence. For example, the trial court did not require that the moving parties prove, in their case in chief, that Sykes' medical expenses were reasonable and necessary and related to injuries caused by ZAIC's insured.<sup>14</sup> Here, Singh offered Sykes' medical bills, heavily redacted, with his reply brief the day before the hearing. The Court of Appeals approved this procedure. Although the Rules of Evidence deem such medical records admissible, ER 904 requires the documents be served on all other parties 30 days before. This permits a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Bird v. Best Plumbing, supra, 175 Wn.2d 756 (2012); Mut. Of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Day, 197 Wn. App. 753, 393 P.3d 786 (2017); Water's Edge Homeowners Ass'n v. Water's Edge Assoc., 152 Wn. App. 572, 216 P.3d 1110 (2009); Owners Ass'n v. Meadow Valley, L.L.C., 137 Wn. App. 810, 156 P.3d 240 (2007); Red Oaks, supra, 128 Wn. App. 317 (2005); Werlinger v. Warner, supra, 126 Wn. App. 342, 109 P.3d 22 (2005); Howard v. Royal Specialty Underwriting, Inc., 121 Wn. App. 372, 89 P.3d 265 (2004).

<sup>14</sup> At page 4, the Court of Appeals states that "Sykes presented his medical bills and declarations from his medical providers." Sykes took no role at the reasonableness hearing. Only Singh signed the "joint" brief and only Singh presented witnesses (Sykes and his wife) and submitted declarations. Singh provided heavily redacted medicals bills with declarations in reply.

party reasonable time to examine the records, assess their completeness and reliability, and determine the necessity of medical testimony to explain or rebut the content.

Singh's declarations were not subject to cross examination. There was no documentation of actual wage loss.

The Court of Appeals said: "The information Sykes presented was of a type often presented in settlement negotiations." Opinion at 10. The Court of Appeals also remarked: "The procedures for handling evidence at these hearings is within the court's discretion and may include less traditional evidence," citing *Pickett v. Stephens-Nelson*, 43 Wn. App. 326, 334-35, 717 P.2d 277 (1986). Opinion at 10. *Pickett* involved a hearing held to determine whether a settlement was reasonable for purposes of establishing the amount of set-off available to a non-settling defendant. *Pickett* did not involve establishing the presumed measure of damages to be imposed, and potentially trebled, in a separate bad faith case against an insurer.

The trial court also discounted—to zero—the evidence ZAIC offered of Gilliardi's comparative fault.<sup>15</sup> On this point the Court of Appeals simply said: "This is *not an untenable position*," Opinion at 13, which ignores which side bears the burden of proof and what the measure of the proof should be. *Chausee v. Maryland Cas. Co.*, 60 Wn. App. 504,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This evidence consisted of the *Beckwith* settlement with Gilliardi and the two expert reports from that case implicating Gilliardi. CP 208-209; 278-308.

510-511, 803 P.2d 1339, rev. den. 117 Wn.2d 1018 (1991), would suggest the standard is a preponderance of the evidence. But given the effect of determining presumed damages in this manner (at a reasonableness hearing without a jury) for later use in the insurance bad faith case, requiring proof of reasonableness under a clear and convincing standard would better protect the interests of insurers.

This Court has said the goal of ensuring reasonable settlements is to protect insurers from liability for excessive judgments. In Besel, this Court approved the procedure adopted in Chaussee and approved conducting a reasonableness hearing in the underlying action prior to litigation against an insurer. Simultaneously, this Court issued a note of caution: "We are aware that an insured's incentive to minimize the amount of a judgment will vary depending on whether the insured is personally liable for the amount." Besel, 146 Wn. 2d at 737–38. As Division One noted in *Red Oaks*, *supra*, "[t]he insured may be persuaded to settle for an inflated amount in exchange for immunity from personal liability." Red Oaks, 128 Wn. App. at 322. See also Chaussee, 60 Wn. App. at 510–11: An "insured may settle for an inflated amount to escape exposure .... [w]e share this concern about consent judgments coupled with a covenant not to execute." The "reasonableness of a settlement with an insured who is not personally liable for a settlement is open to question because the insured will have no incentive to minimize the amount." Werlinger v. Warner, 126 Wn. App. 342, 351, 109 P.3d 22 (2005). The reasonableness hearing in

this case, and often in these cases generally, failed to serve the purpose intended.

Singh's motive was to maximize the amount because he hoped to recover treble damages under the CPA and IFCA. There was no showing of adversity between the parties Singh and Sykes. Singh had no stake in the outcome, other than agree to the highest amount possible. This highlights the challenges ZAIC and all other insurers face in this situation. How is it conceivably fair to insurers to allow a determination of reasonableness based on information "of a type presented in settlement negotiations" when that determination becomes the measure damages, subject to trebling, in the separate bad faith case?

Fair consideration of an insurer's interests calls for this Court to announce minimum standards for the reasonableness hearing process when it is used to determine the measure of presumed damages that will be imposed in the later bad faith case. The Supreme Court of Texas recently addressed the problem posed by using agreed settlements and uncontested judgments to set the damages for insurers who in bad faith fail to defend their insureds, and stated: "Today we clarify that the controlling factor is whether, at the time of the underlying trial or settlement, the insured bore an actual risk of liability for the damages awarded or agreed upon, or had some other meaningful incentive to ensure that the judgment or settlement accurately reflects the plaintiff's damages and thus the defendant—insured's covered liability loss." *Great Am. Ins Co. v. Hamel,* 525 S.W. 3d. 655, 666 (2017).

Reasonableness hearings are judicial proceedings and as such the Rules of Evidence should apply. Even if one applies only the MAR standards, referenced in exceptions in ER 1101, the standards are higher than those employed by the trial court here and approved by the Court of Appeals. Setting procedural and evidentiary standards will promote uniformity, and provide fair notice to all parties about what to expect. Minimum standards could include:

- 1) Trial courts should be reminded that although their determinations may set the measure of damages in the separate bad faith case, bad faith has not yet been established. Parties seeking a reasonableness determination may not discuss the insurer's alleged misconduct. However, trial courts must be mindful of the purpose for which the hearing is being held and therefore protect insurers from determinations that do not reflect a fair and objective consideration of all evidence presented.
- 2) The moving parties must serve any motion for determination of reasonableness and all supporting documentation on any insurer they seek to bind at least 90 days before the noting date of their hearing. All documentation should be of the type that would ordinarily be admissible at trial. This time will allow for written and deposition discovery of the type generally permitted by the Rules of Civil Procedure.

- 3) The burden is on the moving parties to establish reasonableness under a clear and convincing standard.
- 4) Intervention to participate in the reasonableness hearing and to conduct discovery related thereto should be freely permitted if requested by the potentially affected insurer.
- 5) If requested by the insurer, the trial court should allow the insurer access to all percipient witnesses with knowledge of the claimant's injuries and damages for which the claimant alleges the insured is responsible, by way of deposition or otherwise, and to those witnesses' records, if any. Insurers shall have the power of subpoena and may conduct discovery related to each of the factors announced in *Chausee*.
- 6) To the extent necessary for full disclosure of all relevant facts and issues, the trial court shall afford to all parties the opportunity to respond, present evidence and argument, conduct cross-examination, and submit rebuttal evidence.
- 7) The court shall apply the Washington Rules of Evidence. In general, the hearing should be conducted as an adversarial proceeding between the claimant and the insured such that the insured has a real stake in the outcome.
- 8) All testimony of parties and witnesses shall be made under oath or affirmation.
- 9) Documentary evidence may be received in the form of copies or excerpts, or by incorporation by reference.

10) All parties may submit proposed findings and conclusions and

the trial court shall articulate its findings and conclusions in

writing, with supporting references to evidence in the record.

V. CONCLUSION

In reasonableness determinations, intervening insurers are routinely

denied the constitutional and other protections that all other parties to civil

litigation enjoy. Yet the hearing will establish the amount of damages a

jury is instructed to award in the separate bad faith action. Therefore, trial

courts must conduct reasonableness hearings in accordance with specific

standards of which all parties have notice. Even if an insurer has

wrongfully refused to defend its insured, it should not be liable for its

insured's settlement or judgment unless the amount is determined in a

sufficiently adversarial proceeding that demonstrates the insured has a real

stake in the outcome. The insured must bear actual risk of liability for the

damages awarded or agreed upon, or have some other meaningful

incentive to ensure the amount accurately reflects the injured claimant's

damages recoverable from the insured.