FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/17/2018 4:23 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96528-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellant/Intervenor,

v.

BRIAN SYKES, ET AL.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT SYKES' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

William D. Hochberg, WSBA # 13510 Rachel V. Hamar, WSBA # 43683 222 Third Avenue North Edmonds, WA 98020 (425) 744-1220

INTRODUCTION

Respondent Sykes ("Sykes") opposes the petition of Appellant Zurich American Insurance Company's ("Zurich") for discretionary review of the published, unanimous decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals in *Sykes v. Singh*, No. 76009-2-I (2018).

This Court should decline review because no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or RAP 13.4(b)(4) exist. Contrary to Zurich's argument, this case does not involve a significant question of law under Washington's Constitution or an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Superior Court and Court of Appeals correctly applied the decisions of this Court as reflected in *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 49 P.3d 887 (2002) and *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 767, 287 P.3d 551 (2012). This straightforward application of law need not be revisited by this Court.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review is not merited in this case, and Respondent Sykes does not present any new issues for review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 2011, Brian Sykes was involved in a multi-vehicle automobile crash that resulted in the death of nine-year-old Rachel

Beckwith. CP 94-95. Mr. Sykes' work-truck was struck from behind by the Beckwith vehicle and flipped on its side. CP 95. It is undisputed Mr. Sykes suffered physical and psychological injuries resulting from the crash. CP 327-397; CP 591-609. The Washington State Patrol conducted an extensive investigation and determined AP Transport employee Richard Noble, an employee of Joginder Singh, was the sole proximate cause of the crash. CP 112-114.

On July 14, 2014, Mr. Sykes, his wife Nicole, and his children Riley, Jayden, and Mia (collectively "Sykes") filed suit against Mr. Singh and Mr. Noble. The Sykes family later amended their complaint to add Gillardi Logging and Construction, Inc., and its driver Michael Cullins as defendants. CP 11-15; CP 172-177. Sykes dismissed his claims against Gillardi because the statute of limitations had run. CP 52-54.

Mr. Singh, a Zurich insured, tendered the defense of the Sykes' lawsuit to Zurich. CP 129-130. Zurich denied coverage because it had tendered its policy limits to settle the Beckwith lawsuit. CP 129-130. A King County jury found Zurich's decision in the Beckwith lawsuit was a breach of its contract with Mr. Singh, negligent, and done in bad faith. Zurich appealed this decision; this case was decided in *Singh v. Zurich American Insurance Company*, No. 76479-9-I (2018), and has also been the subject of a Petition for Review to this Court by Zurich.

Without his insurance company providing a defense against Sykes, Mr. Singh was forced to hire a private attorney. Defense counsel propounded written discovery requests, gathered complete copies of all of Mr. Sykes' medical records and bills, and deposed Mr. Sykes. CP 74, 81, 130, 324-325, 592. Defense counsel also retained orthopedic surgeon Patrick Bays to perform a medical examination of Mr. Sykes. CP 589-590. After taking full discovery, due to Zurich's bad faith in the Beckwith lawsuit, Mr. Singh stipulated to binding arbitration of the Sykes' claims with Steve Toole, former President of the Washington State Bar Association. CP 129-130. Days before the arbitration hearing, the parties negotiated a stipulated judgment and covenant not to execute for \$250,000. CP 128-136. Singh agreed to make an unconditional payment of \$10,000 to the Sykes family, and Sykes agreed to limit all recovery and collection efforts of the remaining \$240,000 to a single asset – Mr. Singh's insurance misconduct lawsuit against Zurich.

The parties filed a joint motion for determination of reasonableness. CP 73-79. Zurich was notified of the reasonableness hearing and the parties stipulated to an agreed order to allow Zurich to intervene to dispute the reasonableness of the settlement on September 8, 2016. CP 420-422. The trial court allowed intervention on September 15, 2016. *Id.* As an intervening party, Zurich was empowered to subpoena witnesses, conducted

discovery and was a full participant in the hearing. Zurich was fully aware of the Sykes lawsuit two years before in 2014 because it had previously denied Mr. Singh's tender of the Sykes' lawsuit. CP 48-50. Zurich could have intervened after first receiving notice, or after it was sued for bad faith by Mr. Singh on October 6, 2015. Zurich took the deposition of Sykes' attorney in August 2016 as part of Singh's bad faith lawsuit, and later submitted this deposition in the Sykes' case. CP 558-559. Zurich was aware, pursuant to *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp.*, LLC, 175 Wn.2d 756, 865, 287 P.3d 551 (2012), that the amount of any covenant judgment deemed reasonable in the Sykes case would become the presumptive measure of damages in the bad faith case.

On September 16, 2016, the trial court heard live testimony from Brian and Nicole Sykes; Zurich participated in the hearing and cross-examined the Sykes. The trial court allowed the parties time to submit additional briefing and continued the hearing a week to September 23, 2017. RP 1 from 9-16-16 hearing: 10:15-11:7 (allowing Zurich to submit additional briefing), 14:15-41:19 (Sykes testimony); 41:1-49:9 (Nicole testimony), 52:7-14 (setting hearing over to 9-23-16). Zurich was given the opportunity to respond to late-filed witness declarations and to recall witnesses if desired but did not do so.

On September 23, 2016, the trial court found the settlement was reasonable, issued its oral ruling, and asked the parties to submit a proposed written order. RP 2 from 9-23-16 hearing: 25:25-28:20 (oral ruling), 29:20-23 (requesting proposed order). On October 7, 2016, the trial court entered its written findings of fact and conclusion the settlement was reasonable. CP 558-564. Its order confirmed it heard testimony from Plaintiffs Brian and Nicole Sykes, and argument from their counsel William D. Hochberg, Defendant Singh's counsel George A. Mix, and Zurich's counsel, Jacquelyn Beatty. It also identified that it had reviewed multiple documents, including Zurich's opposition to the parties' joint motion for determination of reasonableness, the declarations of Zurich's attorney, Zurich's Motion to Strike/Sur-Reply, Zurich's Sur-Response Determination on Reasonableness, Zurich's deposition designations and Zurich's proposed order and objections after the trial court issued its oral ruling. CP 558-559.

In all, the trial court considered live testimony, oral argument, and several hundred pages of written briefing and supporting evidence. In the trial court's oral ruling, it announced its application of the *Chaussee* factors, and its written findings of fact addressed all nine factors. RP 2: 25:25-28:20 (oral ruling), CP 561-564. The trial court's findings of fact and analysis of the *Chaussee* factors were supported by substantial evidence from the record.

The Court of Appeals carefully reviewed the trial court's factual determinations, noting Zurich was aware of the Sykes's lawsuit in 2014. was sued for bad faith by Singh in 2015, took the deposition of Sykes' attorney to explore whether collusion or fraud had occurred (it had not and no evidence of such was found), was provided with notice of the reasonableness hearing in the Sykes' case and fully participated in that hearing. Sykes v. Singh, Slip Opinion No. 76009-2-I (2018) at 6. It was also noted that Zurich had access to documents, was familiar with the case, cross-examined witnesses and was given a continuance and an opportunity to recall witness and additional time for briefing. Id. at 6-7. The Court of Appeals found the trial court correctly applied Washington law, and found no abuse of discretion by the trial court, recognizing that "the trial judge faced with this task must have discretion to weigh each case individually." Sykes v. Singh, Slip Opinion No. 76009-2-I (2018) at 5, citing Glover for Cobb v. Tacoma General Hospital, 98 Wn.2d 708, 717- 18, 658 P.2d 1230 (1983), overruled on other grounds by Crown Controls. Inc. v. Smiley, 110 Wn.2d 695, 756 P.2d 717 (1988).

ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

Zurich contends that two bases for review exist under RAP 13.4(b). The first is that Zurich's petition "implicates" Article I, Section 21 of Washington's Constitution, trial by jury. Pet. at 5. This Court has explicitly stated there is no right to a jury trial under RCW 4.22.060. *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp., LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 767, 287 P.3d 551 (2012).

The second is that the current procedural and evidentiary standards existing under Washington law for reasonableness hearings are insufficient to protect insurance companies and therefore Zurich's petition involves an issue of substantial public interest which warrants review of the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case. Pet. at 7. On the contrary, the reasonableness hearing, as it currently exists in Washington, is a "settled and appropriate means of balancing the multiple interests of plaintiffs, insureds, and insurers." *Id.* at 773.

A. THERE IS NO CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUE IN THIS CASE WARRANTING REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

In *Bird v. Best Plumbing Grp.*, *LLC*, 175 Wn.2d 756, 767, 287 P.3d 551 (2012), this Court held "there is no right to a jury determination of reasonableness under RCW 4.22.060 because that statute creates an equitable proceeding." This Court further held "We also affirm that a

reasonable covenant judgment establishes the presumptive damages against the insured in a subsequent bad faith action; there is no constitutional right to have that amount decided by a jury." *Id.* at 767-768. This case does not implicate the right of trial by jury protected in Section 21, Article I of Washington's Constitution. The Court of Appeals properly applied the law in rejecting Zurich's argument that a jury trial to determine damages is the only adequate protection for an insurance company against an inflated judgment.

B. A SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST IS NOT AT ISSUE HERE

The current procedural and evidentiary standards existing under Washington law for reasonableness hearings are sufficient to protect the rights of all parties involved in the proceedings, including insurance companies, and do not constitute a matter of interest to the public, substantial or otherwise.

This Court has long held that the standard for any Washington trial court in determining whether a settlement is reasonable is evaluating whether the settlement is consistent with the nine *Chausee* (also called the *Besel* or *Glover*) criteria, where no single criterion controls and all nine are

¹ Zurich references "basic notions of due process" but does not rely upon the Due Process Clauses of either the state or federal Constitutions. Zurich also did not raise due process before the trial court or the Court of Appeals or conduct any kind of analysis per *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

not necessarily relevant in all cases. *Besel v. Viking Ins. Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 730, 739 n. 2, 49 P.3d 887 (2002); *Chausee v. Md. Cas. Co.*, 60 Wn.App. 504, 512, 803 P.2d 1339, as modified by 812 P.2d 487 (1991). "Washington law has shaped and approved this process as a settled and appropriate means of balancing the multiple interests of plaintiffs, insureds, and insurers." *Bird*, 175 Wn.2d at 773.

The trial court in this case weighed each of these factors and explicitly addressed the *Chausee* factors in its determination, both orally and in its written findings of fact, although an explanation of how the trial court weighed the *Chausee* factors is not required by law. RP2:25:25-28:20 (oral ruling); CP 561-564; see also Martin v. Johnson, 141 Wn.App. 611, 620, 170 P.3d 1198 (2007) and *Hidalgo v. Barker*, 176 Wn.App. 527, 548-549, 309 P.3d 687 (2013). Contrary to Zurich's statement otherwise, trial courts have been instructed by this Court on what procedure to follow in reasonableness hearings, and that procedure was followed in this case.

Sykes and Singh, as the settling parties, met their burden of proving the settlement was reasonable and there was no evidence of bad faith, collusion or fraud, and after the settling parties made this showing, Zurich did not present evidence sufficient to controvert the parties' evidence, despite having opportunity to do so. *Pickett v. Stephens-Nelsen, Inc.*, 43 Wn.App. 326, 332-333, 717 P.2d 277 (1986)("It is incumbent upon a party

having a significant interest in seeing that the settlement is found to be unreasonable to present some evidence to controvert the settling parties' evidence.") Having failed before the trial court and the Court of Appeals to show a factual basis for its allegations the reasonableness of the settlement was not supported by substantial evidence, Zurich has abandoned its claims of factual error and instead argues the reasonableness hearing process as it exists is inherently flawed. However, there is nothing in the record in this case which would justify overturning decades of well-established Washington law.

Zurich was aware of Sykes' lawsuit in 2014, declined to defend Singh, and did not intervene in the Sykes' lawsuit (even though it could have done so at any time), even when Singh filed its bad faith suit against Zurich in October 2015. CP 129-130. Zurich took the deposition of Sykes' attorney in August 2016 to explore whether Sykes had colluded with Singh and succeeded only in creating a record that no fraud had occurred. CP 558-559. Zurich had copies of Mr. Sykes' medical records, bills and doctors' declarations before it intervened in September 2016, an intervention to which neither Sykes nor Singh objected. RP 1: 18:22; CP 420-422. Zurich was provided the documents in the case, fully participated in the reasonableness hearing and was given an opportunity to recall witnesses but did not do so. RP 13:22-14:4. Having had opportunity to participate as

early as 2014 and many later opportunities to challenge the reasonableness of the settlement reached, including in 2015 when Singh sued Zurich for bad faith, Zurich failed to make a factual showing that the settlement reached was unreasonable, and has failed to preserve any factual or constitutional issues in its Petition for Review. Zurich now complains fault lies with the procedures established by this Court to determine reasonableness but does not explain how the abuse of discretion standard applied by the Court of Appeals is faulty. In Washington, a determination of reasonableness is reviewed for abuse of discretion, because trial courts must have discretion to weigh each case individually. *Glover*, 98 Wn.2d at 718. Zurich has not established a factual record or legitimate legal basis for overturning the Court of Appeals' decision in this case or long-established Washington law.

Washington jurisprudence in this area, as thoughtfully developed by this Court over decades, sufficiently protects the rights of all parties without requiring a "fully adversarial proceeding" as in Texas or the insurance industry wish list of additional burdens (like a "clear and convincing" standard for reasonableness) advocated for by Zurich, to be placed squarely on innocent parties like the Sykes family, who were harmed through the negligence of others. *Great Am. Ins. Co. v. Hamel*, 60 Tex.Sup.Ct.J. 1257, 525 S.W. 3d. 655, 670 (2017).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent Sykes respectfully requests that this Court deny Zurich's Petition for Review to this Court.